2y,
-\

Répdrﬁng

3

Services

Earth Negotiations Bulletin
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations
Online at http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/cop9/

COP9
#3

Vol. 9 No. 444

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)

Wednesday, 21 May 2008

CBD COP 9 HIGHLIGHTS:
TUESDAY, 20 MAY 2008

Delegates to the ninth Conference of the Parties to the
Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD COP 9) met in two
working groups throughout the day. Working Group I (WG I)
considered agricultural biodiversity and biofuels, and forest bio-
diversity. WG II addressed: financial resources and mechanism;
guidance to the financial mechanism; technology transfer; and
cooperation with other organizations and stakeholders. The bud-
get group met, and informal and regional consultations on access
and benefit-sharing (ABS) were held throughout the day.

WORKING GROUP I

AGRICULTURAL BIODIVERSITY: WG I considered a
draft decision arising from the in-depth review of the work pro-
gramme on agricultural biodiversity and an accompanying docu-
ment on biofuels (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/26).

Many delegates supported the ongoing implementation of
the work programme, and welcomed collaboration with FAO.
MALAYSIA and others requested support for capacity building
and information exchange, with ARMENIA, GUATEMALA and
IRAN calling for special attention to centers of origin. MEXICO
said the ecosystem approach should be applied and EL SAL-
VADOR called for regional workshops on the issue. Vanuatu
for the PACIFIC ISLANDS and PERU urged research on cli-
mate change impacts on agricultural biodiversity. THAILAND
requested the FAO develop options to minimize the impacts of
agriculture and trade on biodiversity.

Debate focused on biofuels. Slovenia for the EU noted the
need to ensure sustainability of biofuel production and proposed
establishing an ad hoc technical expert group (AHTEG) to
develop biodiversity guidelines for emerging industry standards.
NEW ZEALAND recommended development of best practices
to assess and demonstrate the sustainability of biofuel produc-
tion. Qatar for the ARAB GROUP suggested holding a scientific
conference to improve knowledge on the impacts of biofuels on
biodiversity, noting, with others, that biofuel issues should be
considered in the context of food security.

Liberia for the AFRICAN GROUP called for the precaution-
ary approach to be applied to large scale biofuel production,
and for suspending introduction of new measures for biofuel
consumption until policy frameworks are adopted and risk and
benefit assessments concluded. GHANA warned that genetically
modified (GM) biofuel crops could contaminate natural habitats.

BRAZIL highlighted the contribution of biofuel production
to sustainable development, food and energy security and the
achievement of the Millennium Development Goals. Agreeing
that biofuels be considered under the work programme on agri-
cultural biodiversity, he also drew attention to the effects of
developed countries’ perverse agricultural incentives on world
food prices. NORWAY stressed the need to address land-use
conflicts and, with CANADA, biodiversity considerations
regarding biofuel production.

GREENPEACE recommended ending any supportive mea-
sures for agrofuels until appropriate safeguards are in place, with
the INTERNATIONAL INDIGENOUS FORUM ON BIODI-
VERSITY (IIFB) and the CIVIL SOCIETY CAUCUS calling
for an immediate ban on agrofuels. The INTERNATIONAL
FORUM OF LOCAL COMMUNITIES called for agrarian
reform.

A Friends of the Chair group was established, chaired by
Linus Spencer Thomas (Grenada), and a Chair’s text will be
prepared.

FOREST BIODIVERSITY: Delegates considered SBSTTA
recommendation XIII/2 (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/3). IRAN, GUA-
TEMALA and INDIA requested support for implementation
and capacity-building. SWITZERLAND agreed that adequate
financial resources must be made available, but from multiple
sources, and combined with effective forest governance. Jamaica
for SMALL ISLAND DEVELOPING STATES, supported by
the PACIFIC ISLANDS, highlighted: their vulnerability to the
negative effects of unsustainable forest management; lack of
institutional capacity; and, with INDONESIA, governance and
law enforcement issues.

Serbia for CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE emphasized
measures to enhance forest ecological stability and application of
the precautionary approach in climate change mitigation activi-
ties. NEW ZEALAND called for research and national level
efforts to implement sustainable forest management in line with
the ecosystem approach.

The AFRICAN GROUP called for suspending release of GM
trees until risk assessments are carried out. The RUSSIAN FED-
ERATION and ARGENTINA stressed preservation of virgin
and native forests. The EU called for control of illegal logging.
JAPAN suggested enhancing traceability to eliminate illegal
trade. KENYA requested resources to overcome barriers such
as inadequate incentives for local communities. VENEZUELA
noted its opposition to the market-based concept of payments for
ecosystem services. SOUTH AFRICA requested continued work
on timber licensing and trade to ensure only legal products enter
the market, while MALAYSIA considered this to fall under the
mandate of the UN Forum on Forests (UNFF). BRAZIL empha-
sized that UNFF is the only universal forum for discussion of
political issues concerning forests, and that CBD guidance must
be in line with UNFF’s four Global Objectives.

Many suggested applying the ecosystem and precautionary
approaches with regard to biofuels and GM trees. NORWAY
highlighted emissions from deforestation and said data should be
generated to conduct risk assessments on GM trees. THAILAND
called for establishing linkages between the Global Strategy on
Plant Conservation and the work programme on forest biodiver-
sity. Discussions will continue on Wednesday.

WORKING GROUP 11

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND MECHANISM: Del-
egates considered the review of the effectiveness of the financial
mechanism (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/4), the in-depth review of the

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Asheline Appleton, Stefan Jungcurt, Ph.D., Marie-Annick Moreau, Olivia Pasini,
Nicole Schabus, and Elsa Tsioumani. The Digital Editor is Francis Dejon. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@jisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting
Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@jiisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International
Development — DFID), the Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific
Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development
(BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV) and the Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support
for the Bulletin during 2008 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry,
Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal
Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental
Strategies - IGES) and the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI). Funding for
translation of the Bulletin into French has been provided by the International Organization of the Francophonie (IOF). Funding for the translation of the Bulletin into Spanish
has been provided by the Ministry of Environment of Spain. The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or
other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests
to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@jiisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, NY 10022, USA.
The ENB Team at COP 9 can be contacted by e-mail at <elsa@iisd.org>.




Wednesday, 21 May 2008

Vol. 9 No. 444 Page 2

availability of financial resources (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/16), the
draft strategy for resource mobilization (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/16/
Add.1/Rev.1), and the message on biodiversity and financing

to the Follow-Up Conference on Financing for Development
(UNEP/CBD/COP/9/16/Add.2).

Developing countries called for: new and additional funding,
with some stressing funding for specific issues such as protected
area management; fulfillment of funding commitments; facili-
tated access to GEF funding; and prioritized funding for poverty
alleviation projects. Developed countries acknowledged the need
for increased funding, but urged developing countries to priori-
tize biodiversity conservation. THAILAND and GABON pro-
posed a donors’ meeting on biodiversity funding.

On the resource mobilization strategy, the EU proposed
including indicators for funding needs, mainstreaming innova-
tive funding mechanisms, and references to ecosystem goods and
services, and with CANADA and COLOMBIA called for a more
realistic and specific mission statement. INDONESIA requested
an additional section on funding sources and financing mecha-
nisms. MEXICO said the strategy requires further elaboration
before adoption. The AFRICAN GROUP supported the proposed
economic analysis of the cost of biodiversity loss, while NOR-
WAY opposed requesting the Executive Secretary to conduct it.

The IIFB and the GLOBAL FOREST COALITION warned
against financing mechanisms such as those of the World Bank,
which may violate human and indigenous rights. GREENPEACE
urged parties to honor their financial commitments to finance a
global protected areas network and halt deforestation. BIRDLIFE
INTERNATIONAL, on behalf of several NGOs, called for turn-
ing perverse subsidies into new and additional resources.

GUIDANCE TO THE FINANCIAL MECHANISM:
Delegates addressed a priorities framework and the process for
guidance (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/24). The GEF presented its report
(UNEP/CBD/COP/9/9). Many developing countries demanded
that the GEF take into account national priorities and COP guid-
ance, noting that some priority issues, such as traditional knowl-
edge, are not GEF priorities. The AFRICAN GROUP called for a
review of the GEF Resource Allocation Framework and demand-
ed a specific allocation for biodiversity-related activities.

A contact group was established to further consider items
related to finance.

TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER AND COOPERATION:
Delegates considered a draft strategy for implementing the work
programme on technology transfer, possibilities for a biodiversity
technology initiative (BTI), and a study on the role of intellec-
tual property rights (IPRs) in technology transfer (UNEP/CBD/
COP/9/18, 18/Add.1 and INF/7).

CANADA, supported by NORWAY, proposed stating that
the strategy is voluntary. BRAZIL emphasized joint technology
development and complementary mechanisms such as South-
South and triangular cooperation. The EU stressed long-term
partnerships, cooperation with international organizations, and
demand-driven technology transfer. NEW ZEALAND proposed
examining which technologies are most helpful to CBD imple-
mentation.

Many developing countries said technology transfer should
be based on national and local needs. The AFRICAN GROUP
underscored technology transfer for ABS. Many welcomed the
BTI, with CANADA suggesting it be hosted by the CBD Secre-
tariat, and THAILAND proposing developing a list of criteria for
selecting its host institution.

The PHILIPPINES recommended exploring policy tools to
overcome barriers to technology transfer created by IPRs, with
the THIRD WORLD NETWORK (TWN) and SEARICE sug-
gesting local innovations and community endeavors as alterna-
tives to technology transfer. The INTERNATIONAL CHAMBER
OF COMMERCE (ICC) stressed that IPRs form the basis of
technology transfer.

COOPERATION: Delegates addressed: a gender plan of
action for the Secretariat (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/INF/12); busi-
ness engagement (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/21/Add.1); biodiversity
offsets (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/29); engagement of cities and local
authorities (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/INF/10); South-South coopera-
tion (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/INF/11); and cooperation with other
conventions (UNEP/CBD/COP/9/21/Rev.1).

Gender plan of action: Participants welcomed the plan and
encouraged the appointment of a gender focal point within the
Secretariat.

Business engagement: Noting existing COP guidance,
CHINA opposed a further COP decision. SWITZERLAND
suggested a business investment scheme. The EU and the ICC
stressed the inclusion of business representatives in national
delegations. Other business representatives stressed the need for
scientific expertise, reliable partnerships and targeted fundraising
as conditions for engagement. The TWN and the UN Permanent
Forum on Indigenous Issues (UNPFII) called for better regula-
tion of business.

Cities and biodiversity: Delegates welcomed work on the
issue, with some suggesting additions and clarifications to the
draft decision. CHINA opposed preparing such a decision, noting
that involvement of local authorities falls under sovereign affairs
of parties.

South-South cooperation: Antigua and Barbuda for G-
77/CHINA presented a draft decision encouraging developing
countries to engage in South-South cooperation, supported by
North-South cooperation, and requesting the Executive Secretary
to organize a forum on South-South cooperation on biodiversity
for development. The AFRICAN GROUP proposed references to
cross-border ecosystems and incorporation of biodiversity con-
cerns into regional cooperation agreements.

Cooperation with other conventions: The EU and the AFRI-
CAN GROUP welcomed ongoing cooperation and suggested
the liaison group of biodiversity-related conventions be more
focused and address the linkages between biodiversity and cli-
mate change. Many delegates welcomed enhanced cooperation
between the Rio Conventions and called for cooperation with
other international organizations, including the Organization
for Economic Cooperation and Development, the International
Tropical Timber Organization, the UNFF and the UNPFII.
GREENPEACE called for high-level cooperation with the UN
Framework Convention on Climate Change on reducing emis-
sions from deforestation.

Chair’s texts will be prepared.

BUDGET GROUP

The budget group met in the morning to hear presentations
from the Secretariat on the vision and proposed budget for the
2009-2010 biennium, and on the need to supplement the 2008
budget to counter US dollar devaluation. In the afternoon, the
group started addressing the draft decision.

ABS INFORMALS

ABS Working Group Co-Chairs Fernando Casas (Colombia)
and Timothy Hodges (Canada) held open-ended informal consul-
tations in the morning. The Co-Chairs proposed that an informal
consultative group (ICG) be established on Wednesday, follow-
ing discussion on ABS in WG II. They suggested a step-wise
approach for agreement on a draft decision on ABS, focusing on
process, funding, the basis for negotiations and then substance.
The session was suspended to allow for regional and bilateral
consultations.

IN THE CORRIDORS

Biofuels made a splash in Bonn on Tuesday. The “new and
emerging issue,” emanating from SBSTTA 12, is rapidly mor-
phing into the most controversial aspect of the agricultural bio-
diversity work programme. Only months ago, at SBSTTA 13,
the issue looked much like a “bilateral face off” between biofuel
exporters and importers — now all parties are taking a stance.
Noting broad concerns raised by parties, indigenous peoples and
NGOs that biofuel production may lead to ecosystem degrada-
tion, land grabbing and community displacement, one participant
dreaded that “the specter of biofuels might rise again when COP
addresses perverse incentives,” prophesying yet another transfor-
mation of the issue. Looking at the debate on biofuels and in the
context of the current global food crisis, one delegate quipped:
“Some countries called forth spirits they cannot control, and are
now trying to summon the global community to bail them out.”



